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Upon the accompanying Declaration and the following memorandum, Defendants Qenta, 

Inc. (“Qenta”) and Brent de Jong (“de Jong”) hereby move to dismiss the complaint against them 

pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (“Rules”) 12(b)(1), 12(b)(2), 12(b)(6), and 9(b).1 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

The Complaint (ECF #1, “Compl.” or “Complaint”) is as heavy on salacious—but 

conclusory and unsupported—accusations of crime and fraud as it is light on the particularized 

allegations of fact the law requires to state claims for relief. The Trustee2 comes nowhere close to 

alleging violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”) or the 

Commodities Exchange Act – the two federal statutes on which the Complaint relies – under any 

pleading standard. At most, the Complaint sets forth the Trustee’s view that Qenta is guilty of 

breaching a contract with EPB, whose liquidation he is overseeing. This is not our surmise; it is 

the Trustee’s words: “The failure to execute the APA’s terms is central to EPB’s claims.” See ECF 

#1-1 (“Trustee Decl.”) ¶ 16.3 But garden-variety breach of contract claims tend not to grab 

headlines or do reputational harm, which appears to be the Trustee’s aim here.  

As further detailed below, this patently insufficient Complaint should be dismissed 

outright. Without specifying under which section of the statute the Trustee purports to seek relief, 

 
1 Unless otherwise specified, in this memorandum all emphasis is added, and all internal quotation 
marks and citations are omitted. 
2 “Trustee” refers to plaintiff Wigberto Lugo-Mender, as the duly appointed Trustee in the 
liquidation of Euro Pacific International Bank, Inc. (referred to as “EPIB” or “EPB”). 
3 When he filed this suit, the Trustee posted a bulletin to the website he administers in connection 
with the liquidation of EPIB, https://EPIBprliquidation.com/, in which he summarized the case as 
follows: “In summary, the complaint filed seeks judicial redress of Defendants’ reiterated breach 
of their obligations arising from the Liquidation Order and the Purchase and Assumption 
Agreement executed in 2022.” See Trustee’s Notice on Filed Legal Action, dated September 19, 
2025, available at https://EPIBprliquidation.com/wp-content/uploads/09-19-2025-TRUSTEES-
NOTICE-ON-FILED-LEGAL-ACTION.pdf (last viewed October 13, 2025).  
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the Complaint’s first count alleges violations of the Commodity Exchange Act (“CEA”), 7 U.S.C. 

§ 1 et seq. But in enacting the CEA, Congress only provided for private rights of action in very 

limited and exclusive circumstances that do not apply here. On top of that, the CEA has no 

extraterritorial reach, and yet all of the conduct that even arguably relates to “commodities” 

occurred overseas. Nor can the Trustee satisfy the CEA’s standing and injury requirements. (Point 

I).  

In the Complaint’s second count, the Truste attempts to plead violations of the RICO 

statute, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961, et seq., but fails as a matter of law to adequately allege the elements of 

such a claim: (i) a RICO “enterprise” distinct from the defendants; (ii) predicate criminal acts; and 

(iii) a pattern of racketeering activity. A failure as to any of these elements requires dismissal of 

the RICO count. The Trustee alleges that de Jong (Qenta’s principal) and Qenta constituted an 

“association in fact” comprising a RICO enterprise. But it is settled law that a defendant corporate 

entity and its executive cannot form a distinct “enterprise” under the civil RICO statute. (Point 

II.A). 

The Trustee further alleges that de Jong and Qenta committed predicate acts of criminal 

wire and financial institution fraud, both of which must be pleaded with particularity under Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 9(b). As to financial institution fraud, the Trustee simply asserts ipse dixit, without 

referencing any statute, that defendants committed this crime. But a review of the actual financial 

institution fraud statute reveals that this cannot possibly be true, as EPIB is not a defined “financial 

institution” for purposes of the statute. The paltry allegations of wire fraud suffer from a lack of 

particularity in all respects, and do not begin to establish a scheme to defraud, as opposed to failure 

to live up to a contract. (Point II.B). 
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Even if the Complaint had adequately pleaded predicate acts of racketeering, the Complaint 

is crystal clear that those alleged acts of wrongdoing were related to a single transaction under a 

single contract, in pursuit of a single goal. Moreover, nothing in the Complaint suggests that the 

supposed wrongs will continue into the future once that sole objective is achieved. In other words, 

the Trustee has failed to satisfy the continuity requirement that under governing law is needed to 

make out a “pattern of racketeering activity.” (Point II.C). And the Complaint’s third count, for 

conspiracy to violate RICO, should be dismissed both because the Trustee has not pleaded a 

cognizable underlying RICO claim and for want of particularity. (Point II.D).  

In the fourth claim for relief, the Trustee seeks a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 2201 concerning the parties’ rights under contract and with respect to the assets of EPIB 

customers. Assuming this Court dismisses the CEA and RICO claims, there will be no basis for 

jurisdiction over the declaratory judgment claim (which in any event is fundamentally a contract 

claim on which de Jong is not a proper defendant). (Point III). Though styled as a claim for 

substantive relief, the Complaint’s fifth and final count seeks only provisional remedies—remedies 

the Trustee has already sought by motion. Regardless of whether the Court awards the Trustee such 

relief (and given the extensive defects in this pleading, we do not see how that is possible), 

injunctive and other provisional relief are not substantive causes of action. (Point IV). 

Beyond all this, all of the Trustee’s claims are covered by the broad arbitration clause in 

the operative agreement, which is yet another basis for dismissal. (Point V). And the Court cannot 

assert personal jurisdiction over de Jong, who is not alleged to have done anything to avail himself 

of Puerto Rico’s laws in an individual capacity. (Point VI). 
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FACTS4 

A. EPIB is Placed in Trusteeship for Liquidation  

EPIB is a Puerto Rican International Financial Entity founded by defendant Peter Schiff 

(“Schiff”), its current sole shareholder. On June 30, 2022, due to ongoing mismanagement of EPIB, 

Puerto Rico’s Office of the Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“OCIF”) placed EPIB in 

liquidation proceedings and appointed Wigberto Lugo-Mender as Trustee in Liquidation. 

Compl. ¶¶ 12-14; Trustee Decl. ¶¶ 5-7; ECF #1-2 at Ex. 2 (the “Liquidation Order”).5 

The Liquidation Order provides that “the Trustee, on behalf of Euro Pacific, shall have the 

authority to either dispose or sell and liquidate its assets and engage in such other transactions as 

maybe [sic] appropriate to its dissolution and liquidation.” Liquidation Order at 7. The Liquidation 

Order further provided that “[t]he Trustee shall be in charge of completing the liquidation [of] 

[EPIB] to the best of his ability . . . in the event that [EPIB] is unable to complete the Voluntary 

Liquidation Plan during the Liquidation Period” (id.), which is not to exceed 90 days from the 

August 9, 2022 effective date (id. at 4). The Liquidation Order was issued on consent and EPIB 

expressly admitted the facts in it. Id. at 12. 

On September 6, 2022, the Trustee and Schiff signed a Liquidation and Dissolution Plan 

(“Liquidation Plan”). ECF #1-2 at Ex. 7. The Plan stated: “EPIB ceased operations on June 30th, 

2022, and the Trustee took possession of [EPIB].” Id. at 5.  

 
4 The facts herein are taken from (i) the well-pleaded allegations of the Complaint, (ii) documents 
appended to the Complaint, and (iii) judicial and arbitral filings of which this court may take 
judicial notice. See, e.g., United States ex rel. Zotos v. Town of Hingham, 98 F.4th 339, 345 (1st 
Cir. 2003). 
5 In violation of Local Rule 5(c), the Trustee submitted the underlying June 30, 2022 order solely 
in the Spanish original, with no translation. See ECF 1-2, Ex. 1. This document is therefore not 
properly before the Court. 
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B. Qenta Agrees to Acquire Some of EPIB’s Assets, But the Process Is Not Completed 

Under the oversight of the Trustee, a process was designed whereby EPIB customers were 

given a choice between receiving cash from the official liquidation process being run by the 

Trustee (“opt-out” customers) or transferring their claims to Qenta and becoming invested in 

Qenta’s products (“opt-in” customers). Compl. ¶¶ 16-19; Trustee Decl. ¶¶ 33-41.  

On September 30, 2022, Qenta, EPIB, and Schiff entered into a Purchase and Assumption 

Agreement. ECF #1-2 at Ex. 6 (the “PAA” or “Agreement”6). The PAA was entered into with the 

knowledge of and approved by the Trustee and OCIF. Trustee Decl. ¶¶ 35-47. Under the PAA, 

Qenta agreed to purchase, free and clear, EPIB assets (mainly cash, metals, and some securities) 

in an amount equal to the liabilities to opt-in customers. PAA § 1.1 (definitions of Assets, Eligible 

Customers, and Liabilities). EPIB was responsible for transferring title to the assets and liabilities. 

Id. § 2.1(a). Under the Agreement, Qenta also acquired certain subsidiaries of EPIB. Id. § 2.2(b). 

The PAA chose New York law and contained a clause broadly referring “[a]ll disputes 

arising out of or in connection with this Agreement” to arbitration seated in New York under the 

auspices of the International Chamber of Commerce. PAA § 8.7. 

The migration process contemplated by the PAA to this day has not been completed. The 

PAA contemplated more than one “Closing,” with the final closing, wherein all opt-in claims and 

the corresponding assets were to be transferred (see id. §§ 1.1 (definition of “Closing”), 2.2(d), 

2.3), yet to occur. Trustee Decl. ¶ 17. Over a nearly three-year process, Qenta and the Trustee had 

difficulty reconciling the different asset classes and liabilities of opt-in versus opt-out customers; 

this process has been arduous and at times contentious. See ECF #1-2, Ex. 4 (“Termination Letter”) 

 
6 The Trustee sometimes refers to the PAA as the “APA.” 
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at 1; Trustee Decl. ¶¶ 54-61; 63-72, 81. Furthermore, third-party custodians of EPIB’s assets 

delayed their release for years. Trustee Decl. ¶¶ 48-49; Termination Letter at 1. 

On July 11, 2025, Qenta sent the Termination Letter to the Trustee seeking to terminate the 

Agreement and return to the Trustee all EPIB assets less certain amounts intended to make 

Respondents whole for amounts expended, work done, and costs incurred. See Termination Letter. 

The Trustee rejected Qenta’s Termination Letter, stating that he did not want the assets, nor to deal 

with the opt-in customers. Compl. ¶¶ 36-37; see also ECF 15-3. 

C. Schiff Commences Arbitration and Seeks Injunctive Relief   

On July 30, 2025, Schiff invoked the arbitration clause in the PAA and sought to commence 

an arbitration with the International Chamber of Commerce against Qenta. See Declaration of 

Daniel Walfish, submitted herewith (“Walfish Decl.”) ¶ 2 & Ex. 1. Schiff’s submission requested 

that the arbitration be seated in New York, New York and flagged that Schiff sought, as underlying 

relief in the arbitration, “immediate return of all retained assets,” an accounting, and “damages for 

unjust enrichment, breach of contract, and related harms.” Id. 

At or about the same time, Schiff commenced a proceeding in aid of arbitration in state 

court in New York (the “Schiff Action”). See Walfish Decl. ¶ 3 & Ex. 2. Qenta and the other 

defending parties removed the Schiff Action to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of 

New York. Walfish Decl. ¶ 4. See id. The District Court (Castel, J.) directed dismissal of the Schiff 

Action on the ground that the Trustee, not Schiff, was the only party who could bring claims 

seeking to vindicate EPIB’s rights. See Schiff v. Qenta Inc., 2025 WL 2371113, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. 

Aug. 13, 2025). 

Schiff subsequently discontinued the arbitration and the Schiff Action. Walfish Decl. ¶¶ 5-

6 & Exs. 3, 4. 
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D. The Trustee Commences This Action 

The Trustee commenced this action by filing the Complaint on September 16, 2025. ECF 

#1. On the same day, he sought provisional relief, including an attachment of assets. ECF #2. The 

Court referred the Trustee’s motion for provisional relief to Magistrate Judge López-Soler for a 

report and recommendation. ECF #4. The defendants submitted responsive briefing on the motion 

for provisional relief; one of their themes was that the Trustee’s defective claims prevent him from 

showing a likelihood of success on the merits. See ECF #14, 15. On October 8, 2025, the 

Magistrate held an argumentative hearing on the motion for provisional relief. ECF #16, #19. At 

the conclusion of the hearing, the Magistrate directed the filing of substantive responses to the 

Complaint on or before October 15, 2025. This motion timely follows. 

ARGUMENT 

On this motion to dismiss, while the Court must “accept as true the complaint’s well-

pleaded factual allegations,” it must “not credit conclusory legal allegations or factual allegations 

that are too meager, vague, or conclusory to remove the possibility of relief from the realm of mere 

conjecture.” Douglas v. Hirshon, 63 F.4th 49, 55 (1st Cir. 2023); accord Analog Techs., Inc. v. 

Analog Devices, Inc., 105 F.4th 13, 14 (1st Cir. 2024) (“When reviewing a motion to dismiss, we 

recount the underlying facts as alleged in the complaint but disregard any conclusory 

allegations.”). “A plaintiff’s obligation to provide the grounds of his entitle[ment] to relief requires 

more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action 

will not do.” Morales Tañon v. P.R. Elec. Power Auth., 524 F.3d 15, 18 (1st Cir. 2008).  

Where, as here, claims in a complaint sound in fraud, a plaintiff is required to “state with 

particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). This means that 

for each alleged instance of fraud, plaintiff is required to “specify what the underlying 

misrepresentation was, who made it, and when and where it was made.” Katz v. Belveron Real 
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Estate Partners, LLC, 28 F.4th 300, 308 (1st Cir. 2022). In the RICO context, “it is insufficient to 

simply make conclusory allegations of fraud and to fail to describe the time, place, and content of 

the communications.” Humana Inc. v. Biogen, Inc., 126 F.4th 94, 104 (1st Cir. 2025). A failure to 

plead the “contents” of alleged misrepresentations, “who made them to whom, where and when 

they were made, and even why they were fraudulent” requires dismissal for failure to satisfy Rule 

9(b). Id. 

I. THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT CLAIM SHOULD BE DISMISSED 

In Count I, the Trustee attempts to assert a cause of action under the CEA. The Trustee 

generally refers to “fraud, manipulation, and deceptive devices,” but without specifying any 

particular section of the CEA under which the Trustee purports to be proceeding. See Compl. ¶¶ 

50-60. The Trustee badly misses the mark. The CEA is not a general-purpose statute that a civil 

litigant can invoke whenever there is alleged misconduct that happens to involve a putative 

commodity like gold or silver. On the contrary, the CEA is primarily designed to regulate organized 

trading on designated exchanges of commodity futures (formally known in the CEA as “contracts 

for future delivery”) and other specified derivative contracts (notably swaps and options) with the 

chief goal of preventing price manipulation in the trading of such contracts. Enforcement is 

generally committed to the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC).7  

 
7 See, e.g., CFTC informational web page, at 
https://www.cftc.gov/LawRegulation/CommodityExchangeAct/index.htm (the CEA “regulates 
the trading of commodity futures”). In fact, it is not even clear that gold and silver bullion (i.e., 
metal owned outright in the form of bars) are “commodities” for purposes of the CEA. See 
CFTC v. TMTE, Inc., 2025 WL 2043718, at *4-*5 (N.D. Tex. July 21, 2025) (expressing 
significant doubt on this point). 
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To be sure, the CEA creates certain private rights of action in 7 U.S.C. § 25(a),8 but these 

are very specific, and the CEA makes clear that, with exceptions not relevant here,9 these rights of 

action are “the exclusive remedies under [the CEA] available to any person who sustains loss as 

a result of any alleged violation of [the CEA].” 7 U.S.C. § 25(a)(2). See In re MF Global Holdings 

Ltd. Inv. Litig., 998 F. Supp. 2d 157, 175-76 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (7 U.SC. § 25 “expresses Congress’s 

intent to limit the circumstances under which a civil litigant could assert a private right of action 

for a violation of the CEA”). In other words, if the claim asserted here does not fit within 7 U.S.C. 

§ 25(a), then the Trustee has no claim under the CEA. 

Section 25(a)(1)10 by its plain terms first requires an underlying violation of the CEA and 

then applies solely if a plaintiff engaged in one of several specified relationships with the defendant 

identified in sub-paragraphs (A) through (D) of Section 25(a)(1). The Trustee does not identify 

any underlying violation of the CEA, instead stating generically (and without the particularity 

required by Rule 9(b)) that “Defendants . . . engaged in the fraudulent solicitation, 

misappropriation, and conversion of commodities and commodity-related assets belonging to 

 
8 Also referred to as Section 22 of the CEA, because the Act’s sections do not directly map 
numerically onto the codification in Title 7. The provision reads: “Any person . . . who violates 
[the CEA] . . . shall be liable for actual damages resulting from one or more of the transactions 
referred to in subparagraphs (A) through (D) of this paragraph and caused by such violation 
to” a plaintiff who engaged in a specified relationship with the defendant. 
9 One exception is in 7 U.S.C. § 25(b), which authorizes remedies specifically against a “registered 
entity,” a “registered futures association,” or their associated individuals. The definition of 
“registered entity” is contained in 7 U.S.C. § 1a(40) and corresponds to CFTC-registered trading 
venues. “Registered futures association” is a category of industry self-regulatory organization 
governed by 7 U.S.C. § 21. Qenta and de Jong do not come within either of these categories. Under 
7 U.S.C. § 25(a)(2), the only other private remedies potentially available under the CEA come 
from a trio of provisions that relate to internal discipline imposed in industry member 
organizations. See 7 U.S.C. §§ 7(d)(13), 7a-1(c)(2)(H), 21(b)(10). Qenta and de Jong are not 
subject to these provisions, either. 
10 Sections 25(a)(3), (a)(4), (a)(5), and (a)(6) are highly technical provisions that are not relevant 
here. If the Trustee has a claim based on fraud, it would have to fit within Section 25(a)(1).  
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EPIB’s opt-in customers.” Compl. ¶ 52. The Trustee does not explain how this allegation makes 

out an underlying violation of the CEA. 

Next, even if an underlying violation had been identified, a cause of action is available 

under Section 25(a)(1) only if the plaintiff comes within sub-paragraphs (A) through (D). Sub-

paragraph (A) requires that the plaintiff have received “trading advice” dispensed by the defendant 

“for a fee.” 7 U.S.C. §§ 25(a)(1)(A). Sub-paragraphs (B) and (C) require that the plaintiff have 

transacted in various kinds of specified assets, including a “contract of sale . . . for future delivery” 

(i.e., a futures contract) or option on a futures contract or on commodities, or a swap, or an “interest 

or participation in a commodity pool,” or “a contract subject to section 23 of this title” (which 

covers leverage contracts / margin accounts). 7 U.S.C. §§ 25(a)(1)(B)-(C).11 

None of these provisions applies here. Neither Qenta or de Jong gave or is alleged to have 

given anyone paid “trading advice.” The allegations in the Complaint, to the extent they may relate 

to any arguable commodities, are geared entirely at the accusation that Qenta somehow mishandled 

physical “gold and silver,” not that EPIB transacted with or through Qenta in a futures or other 

derivative contract. Compl. ¶ 53; see also id. passim (referring to “precious metals”). The 

Complaint says nothing at all about the Trustee or EPIB being party to futures, swaps, or options 

 
11 Sub-paragraph (D) allows a plaintiff who has entered into a futures contract, swap, or option to 
sue a defendant who committed manipulation involving “a contract of sale of a commodity” even 
if not for future delivery. In other words, sub-paragraph (D) contemplates misconduct by the 
defendant involving an outright commodity transaction (as opposed to just a futures, swap, or 
option contract). Even under sub-paragraph (D), however, the plaintiff has to have transacted in 
futures, swaps, or options, and the alleged underlying violation has to involve manipulation (the 
theory being that one can cause harm to the plaintiff holder of a futures, etc. contract if one 
manipulates its underlying commodity in the spot, i.e., physical, markets). Neither of these 
requirements is satisfied here. Again, EPIB / the Trustee did not hold futures and there is and can 
be no allegation of price manipulation. 
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contracts, or about any “commodity pool”12 or margin account or leverage contract covered by 7 

U.S.C. § 23.13 

To survive a motion to dismiss, the Trustee was required to “plead facts to show both that 

[Qenta and de Jong] violated the CEA and that [Qenta and de Jong] stand[] in an appropriate [i.e., 

statutorily specified] relationship to the [Trustee] with respect to the alleged CEA violation.” MF 

Global, 998 F. Supp. 2d at 176. The Trustee could not satisfy this pleading burden even if he tried, 

which he did not.  

A further problem: The CEA does not apply extraterritorially. “Suits funneled through [the 

CEA’s] private right of action must be based on transactions occurring in the territory of the 

United States.” Laydon v. Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A., 55 F.4th 86, 96 (2d Cir. 2022). 

Additionally and as a separate requirement, there must be “sufficiently domestic conduct by the 

defendant.” Id. Here, the alleged transactions and the alleged conduct relating to gold and silver 

all occurred, if at all, overseas. The Trustee alleges that Qenta mishandled or misappropriated silver 

and gold physically located in Singapore. Compl. ¶ 56. There is and can be no allegation that any 

transactions in gold or silver owned by EPIB or its customers occurred in the territorial United 

States, or that any of Qenta’s alleged misconduct occurred in the United States. Therefore, even if 

the Trustee had otherwise satisfied his pleading burden under the CEA (he has not), the CEA claim 

 
12 A “commodity pool” is a type of “enterprise operated for the purpose of trading in” futures and 
other types of specified contracts. See 7 U.S.C. § 1a(10)(A). 
13 Such contracts among other things must involve a duration of at least ten years, and the posting 
of margin. Straightforward arrangements to hold physical metal do not qualify. See CFTC v. 20/20 
Trading Co., 2011 WL 2221177, at *7 (C.D. Cal. June 7, 2011) (business that sold physical metals 
was not offering leverage contracts within the meaning of 7 U.S.C. § 23). See also 17 C.F.R. § 
31.4(w) (definition of leverage contract for purposes of 7 U.S.C. § 23); First Nat’l Monetary Corp. 
v. CFTC, 860 F.2d 654, 658 (6th Cir. 1988) (“a section 19 [i.e., 7 U.S.C. § 23] leverage contract 
looks strikingly like a futures contract traded off [exchange]”). 
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would fail for the separate reason that the Trustee cannot come forward with allegations that meet 

the CEA’s territorial requirements. 

Additionally, the only proper plaintiff in a private action under the CEA, i.e. the only party 

with standing, is the party directly harmed by the alleged conduct. See, e.g., Gamma Traders – I 

LLC v. Merrill Lynch Commodities, Inc., 41 F.4th 71, 77-78 (2d Cir. 2022) (“CEA plaintiffs must 

establish that they were personally harmed by the defendant’s fraudulent trading activity”); see 

also Harry v. Total Gas & Power N. Am., Inc., 889 F.3d 104, 111-12 (2d Cir. 2018). On the 

Trustee’s allegations, however, the parties supposedly harmed by Qenta’s conduct are not the 

Trustee himself or even EPIB, but rather the “opt-in” customers. Compl. ¶¶ 30, 43, 52. The Trustee 

does not have, and does not claim that he has, the authority to appear in court as the representative 

of specific customers, only for EPIB as a whole. Count I falls short in every respect and should be 

dismissed. 

II. THE RICO AND RICO CONSPIRACY CLAIMS SHOULD BE DISMISSED  

Count II of the Complaint (Compl. ¶¶ 61-74, the “RICO Claim”) alleges that the conduct 

of Qenta and de Jong in executing and performing the PAA violated the RICO statute. Count III 

(Compl. ¶¶ 75-83, the “RICO Conspiracy Claim”) alleges perfunctorily that Schiff conspired with 

Qenta and de Jong to violate RICO. These claims “fall[] short because their allegations rely too 

heavily on conclusory statements, and the conduct they allege does not establish a colorable RICO 

claim.” Naicom Corp. v. DISH Network Corp., 2024 WL 1363755, at *21 (D.P.R. Mar. 29, 2024). 

The RICO statute makes it “unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any 

enterprise . . . to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s 

affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). Section 1964(c) creates a 

private right of action for violation of this provision. 
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To state a claim under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), the Trustee “must allege each of the four 

elements required by the statute: (1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of 

racketeering activity.” Efron v. Embassy Suites (Puerto Rico), Inc., 223 F.3d 12, 14-15 (1st Cir. 

2000); accord Home Orthopedics Corp. v. Rodriguez, 781 F.3d 521, 528 (1st Cir. 2015). Because 

the predicate acts alleged in the Complaint (to the extent described at all) are forms of fraud 

(Compl. ¶¶ 68-71), the Complaint is subject to Rule 9(b). Humana, 126 F.4th at 103; see also 

Embassy Suites, 223 F.3d at 20 (“RICO claims premised on mail or wire fraud must be particularly 

scrutinized because of the relative ease with which a plaintiff may mold a RICO pattern from 

allegations that, upon closer scrutiny, do not support it.”); Naicom, 2024 WL 1363755, at *21 

(“courts should strive to flush out frivolous RICO allegations at an early stage”). 

As discussed below, the RICO Claim fails to allege a RICO enterprise, or predicate acts, 

or a cognizable pattern of racketeering activity, far less with the particularity required by Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 9(b). Each of these flaws independently requires dismissal. Because the RICO Claim 

“do[es] not state a substantive RICO claim upon which relief may be granted,” the “[RICO 

C]onspiracy claim also fails.” Embassy Suites, 223 F.3d at 21.  

A. The Trustee Fails to Allege the Existence of an Enterprise 

The RICO Claim’s first fatal deficiency is that it does not allege the existence of any distinct 

“enterprise” through which the defendants operated their supposed scheme. 

It is long settled that the “‘person’ identified under § 1962(c)” – i.e., the RICO defendant 

– “must be distinct from the ‘enterprise.’” Bessette v. Avco Fin. Servs., Inc., 230 F.3d 439, 448 (1st 

Cir. 2000). The Complaint does not meet this requirement, alleging only that “Defendant Qenta 

and Brent de Jong formed an association-in-fact enterprise that had a common purpose, 

relationships among those associated with the enterprise, and longevity sufficient to permit the 

associates to pursue the enterprise’s purpose.” Compl. ¶ 63. This allegation does not make out a 

Case 3:25-cv-01501-PAD-GLS     Document 36     Filed 10/15/25     Page 18 of 32



 

14 
 

RICO enterprise as a matter of law. The First Circuit has emphasized that “employees acting solely 

in the interest of their employer, carrying on the regular affairs of the corporate enterprise, are not 

distinct from that enterprise” for purposes of a RICO pleading. Bessette, 230 F.3d at 449. Qenta 

and de Jong “cannot be the entity that conducts its own affairs through a pattern of racketeering 

activity.” Odishelidze v. Aetna Life & Cas Co., 853 F.2d 21, 23 (1st Cir. 1988); OK Resorts of P.R., 

Inc. v. Charles Taylor Consulting Mexico, S.A. de C.V., 2021 WL 312702, at *6 (D.P.R. Jan. 29, 

2021) (“because the racketeer [i.e., the defendant “person” under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)] and the 

enterprise must be distinct, the enterprise must be an entity separate from the named defendants 

who are allegedly engaging in unlawful activity.”).14 

The Trustee does not allege in any manner how the Qenta/de Jong “enterprise” is anything 

other than Qenta carrying on its own business. The Trustee therefore fails to allege the existence 

of an “enterprise” distinct from the named defendants under 18 U.S.C. §1962(c). See, e.g., Silva-

Melendez v. Crescioni Badillo, 2024 WL 6080260, at *4 (D.P.R. Jan. 26, 2024) (dismissing RICO 

claim where “plaintiffs fail to identify the criminal enterprise, which cannot be the same entity as 

the RICO defendant”). The RICO Claim should be dismissed for this reason alone. 

B. The Trustee Fails To Allege Predicate Acts 

The RICO Claim should separately be dismissed because it fails to sufficiently allege any 

predicate acts of “racketeering activity” as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1). See Embassy Suites, 

223 F.3d at 15 (to state a civil RICO claim, a plaintiff must “show at least two predicate acts of 

‘racketeering activity,’ which is defined to include violations of specified federal laws, such as the 

 
14 See also Riverwoods Chappaqua Corp. v. Marine Midland Bank, N.A., 30 F.3d 339, 344 (2d Cir. 
1994) (“by alleging a RICO enterprise that consists merely of a corporate defendant associated 
with its own employees or agents carrying on the regular affairs of the defendant, the distinctness 
requirement may not be circumvented”) (gathering authorities). 
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mail and wire fraud statutes.”). The Trustee attempts (and fails) to allege two types of predicate 

acts of racketeering by defendants: (i) financial institution fraud or (ii) wire fraud. Compl. ¶¶ 68, 

70, 80. 

1. The Trustee Fails To Allege Financial Institution Fraud 

The Complaint’s “financial institution fraud” allegations are clearly insufficient. While it 

is true that 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1) identifies “financial institution fraud” under 18 U.S.C. § 1344 as 

a potential RICO predicate, the Complaint does not identify any “financial institution” within the 

scope of the statute. The definition of a “financial institution” for purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 1344 is 

contained in 18 U.S.C. § 20, and EPIB does not come within any of the defined categories, nearly 

all of which are limited to various forms of federally regulated banks.15 “Financial institution 

fraud” cannot, therefore, serve as a RICO predicate here. 

2. The Trustee Fails To Allege Wire Fraud 

The Complaint’s only substantive allegation as to wire fraud is: 

Defendants used interstate wire communications to issue false and misleading 
statements to EPIB customers about migration timelines and access to their assets. 
Specifically, between September 28 and November 9, 2022, defendants issued a 
series of regular written updates to EPIB customers, informing them of continued 
operational delays, migration timelines, and shifting opt-out deadlines, while 
knowing that these commitments would not be fulfilled. 

Compl. ¶ 68; accord id. ¶ 28. That is it. Neither the Complaint nor the Trustee’s declaration specify, 

as First Circuit precedent requires, which defendant made which allegedly false representation, the 

 
15 The provision of 18 U.S.C. § 20 that ostensibly comes closest is “a branch or agency of a foreign 
bank (as such terms are defined in [12 U.S.C. § 3101]).” This provision is not satisfied, however, 
because regardless of whether EPIB is a “foreign bank” (which is far from clear), the “agency” or 
“branch” in question must be in one of the fifty U.S. States or the District of Columbia. 12 U.S.C. 
§ 3101(1), (3), (7), (10). EPIB is not alleged to have had and did not have any branch or office in 
any U.S. state or in the District of Columbia, eliminating any jurisdictional predicate for the 
application of 18 U.S.C. § 1344. See Trustee Decl. ¶ 25 (referring to the “EPIB offices in Puerto 
Rico” and noting that “most of the banking operations were being conducted . . . at Saint Vincent”). 
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specific content of the representation or, critically, what about that representation was fraudulent. 

See Katz, supra; Humana, supra. All that is said is that defendants issued informational updates to 

EPIB customers “while knowing that these commitments would not be fulfilled.” Compl. ¶ 68; 

accord id. ¶ 28. 

Moreover, while the Complaint promises that the Trustee’s Declaration “describes the[] 

effect on customer decision-making” (id. ¶ 28) of defendants’ unspecified alleged false statements, 

that Declaration does no such thing. Neither document particularizes any statements or explains in 

any way what decisions the allegedly false statements were supposed to influence, or how they 

were in fact influenced. 

The lack of particularity is fatal on its own, but we emphasize that even the Trustee’s 

minimal characterization of them shows that the statements at most constitute an assurance to 

EPIB’s customers by Qenta that Qenta was in the process of fulfilling its obligations under the 

PAA, and that (according to the Trustee’s conclusory allegations), Qenta knew that it did not intend 

to fulfill those obligations. Stripped of its (conclusory, factually unsupported) assertion that Qenta 

knew it did not intend to fulfill its PAA obligations, the Complaint alleges that Qenta breached the 

PAA. But “breach of contract is not fraud, and a series of broken promises therefore is not a pattern 

of fraud. It is correspondingly difficult to recast a dispute about broken promises into a claim of 

racketeering under RICO.” Trinidad v. IDI Holdings PR, Inc., 708 F. Supp. 2d 137, 146 (D.P.R. 

2005). The Complaint’s paltry allegations of fraud, such as they are, sound in contract. The Trustee 

“cannot successfully transmute them into RICO claims by simply appending the terms ‘false’ and 

‘fraudulent.’” Kolar v. Preferred Real Est. Invs., Inc., 361 F. App’x 354, 363–64 (3d Cir. 2010). 

Case 3:25-cv-01501-PAD-GLS     Document 36     Filed 10/15/25     Page 21 of 32



 

17 
 

The Complaint fails to allege predicate acts either under Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)’s notice 

pleading standard or under the particularity requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b), which govern 

here. For this additional reason, the RICO Claim should be dismissed. 

C. The Trustee Fails to Allege a “Pattern of Racketeering Activity” 

To plead RICO claims, the Trustee is required to allege that defendants committed two or 

more predicate acts of racketeering that are “related, and…amount to or pose a threat of continued 

criminal activity.” Home Orthopedics, 781 F.3d at 528. In RICO parlance, this means the 

Complaint must allege “continuity,” i.e., the “kind of broad or ongoing criminal behavior at which 

the RICO statute was aimed.” Id. at 529. This can be done by alleging “closed” continuity, i.e., a 

“closed period of repeated conduct that amounted to…continued criminal activity,” id. at 528 

(quoting H.J. Inc. v. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229, 237 (1989)), or “open-ended” continuity, by 

alleging “past conduct that by its nature projects into the future with a threat of repetition.” Id. 

The Complaint fails utterly in this respect. In a flimsy effort to comply with RICO pleading 

requirements, the Trustee takes a stab at closed continuity, alleging that “from September 2022 to 

July 2025, Defendants engaged in multiple related acts of racketeering activity that were 

continuous over this closed period of nearly three years.” Compl. ¶ 67. But the supposed 

wrongdoing alleged in the Complaint16 is focused entirely on a single transaction: Qenta’s 

acquisition of certain assets of EPIB via the PAA. Specifically, the Trustee alleges that by entering 

into the PAA and attempting to consummate that agreement, Qenta and Schiff pursued an “overall 

objective of acquiring control over [EPIB] customer assets” (id. ¶ 78; accord id. ¶ 29) in service 

of a “conspiracy to defraud customers.” Id. ¶ 39.  

 
16 For the avoidance of doubt, Qenta and de Jong categorically deny all alleged wrongdoing. As 
they have explained (in the Schiff Action and in response to the request for provisional remedies), 
Qenta has been seeking to resolve disagreements with the Trustee, not to abscond with assets. 
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The Trustee Declaration (which was appended to the Complaint, see Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(c)) 

is to the same effect. Every allegation of wrongdoing in that document is tied to Schiff’s and 

Qenta’s obligations under and performance of the PAA. The Trustee makes this explicit: 

• “The failure to [effectuate] the [PAA] terms is central to EPB’s claims.” 
Trustee Decl. ¶ 16. 

• “On July 11, 2025, Qenta remitted a termination notice requesting to set aside 
on its specific terms, the [PAA] entered almost three years before.” Id. ¶ 17. 

• “Qenta retained custody of unreconciled assets and failed to onboard or 
liquidate them per [PAA] terms.” Id. ¶ 69. 

• “The [PAA] does not authorize retention of appreciation, imposition of fees, 
or unilateral liquidation of customer assets. Such actions violate the express 
terms of the [PAA].” Id. ¶ 76. 

Because the “scheme” alleged in the Complaint, such as it is, relates entirely to Qenta’s 

performance of its PAA obligations and the migration of EPIB customers to Qenta’s platform and 

nothing else, the Trustee cannot satisfy the “continuity” requirement even on a theory of “closed 

continuity.” Courts in this Circuit and elsewhere have held over and over again that where the 

predicate RICO acts have their genesis in a single episode, transaction, contract, or even a single 

criminal scheme that involves the commission of multiple crimes, RICO’s “continuity” 

requirement is not met.17 

 
17 See, e.g., Embassy Suites, 223 F.3d at 21 (holding that alleged acts “compris[ing] a single effort, 
over a finite period of time, to wrest control of a particular [business venture] from a limited 
number of [victims] .... cannot be a RICO violation”); Gonzalez-Morales v. Hernandez-Arencibia, 
221 F.3d 45, 52 (1st Cir. 2000) (dismissing RICO claims where complaint alleged that all predicate 
acts “have their origin in the…Contract for Purchase of Assets.”); Kenda Corp. v. Pot O’Gold 
Money Leagues, Inc., 329 F.3d 216, 233 (1st Cir. 2003) (dismissing RICO claims for failing to 
plead closed continuity where plaintiff “adduced evidence of only a single scheme by the 
defendants”); Sys. Mgmt., Inc. v. Loiselle, 303 F.3d 100 (1st Cir. 2002) (“RICO is not aimed at a 
single narrow criminal episode, even if that single episode involves behavior that amounts to 
several crimes.”); Apparel Art Int’l, Inc. v. Jacobson, 967 F.2d 720, 723 (1st Cir. 1992) (Breyer, J.) 
(“however courts express the point, they have consistently held that a single episode does not 
constitute a “pattern,” even if that single episode involves behavior that amounts to several crimes 
(for example, several unlawful mailings”); accord D&T Partners, L.L.C. v. Baymark Partners 
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Furthermore, the Complaint makes no attempt whatsoever to satisfy the requirement that 

the alleged scheme (i.e., Qenta’s supposed attempt to gain control over the assets of EPIB 

customers) has the potential to last indefinitely or pose a threat of continued criminal activity. See 

Embassy Suites, 223 F.3d at 19 (“Our own precedent firmly rejects RICO liability where the 

alleged racketeering acts, taken together, comprise a single effort to facilitate a single financial 

endeavor.” (gathering cases)); accord Home Orthopedics, 781 F.3d at 530 (“That the defendants 

in this case sought to accomplish a specific, narrow mission—which stemmed from a single, 

discernible event—clearly cuts against a conclusion that Home Orthopedics has sufficiently 

alleged a closed pattern.”; no continuity where “the nature of the defendants’ conduct is finite”); 

Puerto Rico Clean Energy Corp. v. Hatton-Gotay, 115 F. Supp. 3d 288, 295 (D.P.R. 2015) 

(dismissing RICO claims for lack of continuity where “the nature of the scheme is not one that has 

the potential to last indefinitely.”).18  

Though it only purports to allege closed continuity, the Complaint cannot plausibly be read 

to allege an open-ended pattern of racketeering activity either. The Trustee does “not allege a 

specific threat of repetition extending indefinitely into the future, nor did [he] allege that the 

racketeering acts were a part of the defendants’ regular way of doing business.” Giuliano v. Fulton, 

399 F.3d 381, 390-91 (1st Cir. 2005) (affirming dismissal of RICO claims for failure to allege 

closed or open-ended continuity). Indeed, all the Complaint’s allegations of wrongdoing related to 

 
Mgmt., L.L.C., 98 F.4th 198, 208 (5th Cir. 2024) (“Simply put, what began as an ordinary business 
transaction ended with stolen assets, a defunct company, and many unhappy creditors. Even if 
Defendants engaged in fraudulent acts in the interim, the complaint alleges that the acts arose in 
pursuit of a single end: transferring Global’s assets to Windspeed. While the plan ultimately took 
several years to realize, the number of victims and the nature and objective of the alleged scheme 
do not support an inference of a closed-ended pattern of racketeering activity.”). 
18 Accord Johnson v. Heath, 56 F.4th 851, 862 (10th Cir. 2022) (“Without a threat of continued 
illegal activity, a single scheme rarely supports finding continuity. And a single scheme even less 
likely supports a continuity finding when the scheme targets only one discrete goal.”). 
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the single alleged objective of obtaining EPIB “opt-in” customer assets. See id. (no open-ended 

continuity where complaint “acknowledged that all of the racketeering activity was focused on the 

singular objective”).  

D. The RICO Conspiracy Claim Should Be Dismissed 

If the RICO Claim is dismissed for any of the reasons stated above, the RICO Conspiracy 

Claim must also be dismissed. See Embassy Suites, 223 F.3d at 21; accord Efron v. UBS Fin. Servs. 

Inc. of Puerto Rico, 96 F.4th 430, 440 (1st Cir. 2024) (“without a viable underlying RICO claim, 

accepting the proposed second-amended complaint’s RICO conspiracy claim would also have been 

futile”); Lu v. Canton Corp., 2015 WL 13697141, at *9 (D. Mass. May 13, 2015) (“if the pleadings 

are insufficient to make out an underlying RICO claim, the RICO conspiracy claim necessarily 

fails as well”). This should be the end of the analysis. But like the underlying RICO Claim itself, 

“the conspiracy allegation is perfunctory. It fails to provide any specifics as to the details of the 

alleged conspiracy or the predicate acts committed in the pursuit thereof. Like RICO claims 

generally…a RICO conspiracy claim that is alleged in wholly conclusory terms will not withstand 

a motion to dismiss.” Miranda v. Ponce Fed. Bank, 948 F.2d 41, 48 (1st Cir. 1991). 

III. THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT COUNT SHOULD BE DISMISSED  

The Complaint’s Count IV seeks a declaration under 28 U.S.C. § 2201—the Declaratory 

Judgment Act (“DJA”)—regarding the parties’ rights respecting assets of EPIB customers and the 

“Opt-in Customers” under the PAA. Compl. ¶¶ 84-94. The DJA allows federal courts to “declare 

the rights and other legal relations” of parties. In other words, there must be a source of “rights 

and other legal relations.”  

The Trustee seeks a declaration concerning the rights of EPIB and Qenta respecting the 

assets of “Opt-in” EPIB customers, and specifically, as to whether and to what extent Qenta has 

“fulfill[ed its] obligations under the [PAA].” Compl. at p.22 ¶ 5. Fundamentally, the Trustee seeks 
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relief under that agreement. See, e.g., Trustee Decl. ¶ 16 (“The failure to [effectuate] the [PAA] 

terms is central to EPB’s claims.”). 

However, there is no federal jurisdiction over an action to enforce the PAA – it’s a 

quintessential state-law claim. (On top of that, any disputes relating to the PAA must proceed in 

arbitration. See Section V, infra.) Notably, the DJA does not itself furnish subject matter 

jurisdiction. Rather, it “merely makes available an added anodyne for disputes that come within 

the federal courts’ jurisdiction on some other basis. Thus [t]here must be an independent basis of 

jurisdiction . . . before a federal court may entertain a declaratory-judgment action.” Alberto San, 

Inc. v. Consejo De Titulares Del Condominio San Alberto, 522 F.3d 1, 5 (1st Cir. 2008). Put 

differently, “Section 2201 is the cart; plaintiff still needs a horse.” Id. The Trustee’s only 

jurisdictional “horse” is the insufficient RICO claim. See Compl. ¶ 92. Assuming that claim is 

dismissed, there is no basis for federal jurisdiction. See, e.g., Tyler v. Michaels Stores, Inc., 840 F. 

Supp. 2d 438, 452 (D. Mass. 2012) (“The Declaratory Judgment Act is not an independent grant 

of federal jurisdiction, so dismissal of the underlying claims requires dismissal of the claim for 

declaratory relief as well.” (gathering authorities)). 

A further problem for the Trustee: de Jong (unlike Schiff) is not personally party to the 

PAA in an individual capacity, having signed the PAA solely on behalf of Qenta and its affiliates. 

PAA at 14 (ECF #1-2 at 81). There is, therefore, no basis for any PAA-based claim to the extent 

asserted against de Jong. See Salzman Sign. Co. v. Beck, 10 N.Y.2d 63, 67 (1961) (“In modern 

times most commercial business is done between corporations, everyone in business knows that 

an individual . . . officer is not liable for his corporation’s engagements unless he signs individually, 

and where individual responsibility is demanded the nearly universal practice is that the officer 

signs twice once as an officer and again as an individual.”). 
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IV. THE DEMAND FOR PROVISIONAL RELIEF DOES NOT STATE A CLAIM  

Count V of the Complaint seeks provisional relief in the form of attachment, garnishment, 

and a temporary restraining order. Compl. ¶¶ 96-100. The Trustee has already sought that relief by 

way of motion (ECF #2). The Court will in due course determine whether the Trustee has made a 

showing sufficient to warrant this relief, but the Complaint’s Count V does not state a claim for 

which relief can be granted; it simply sets forth relief to which the Trustee could theoretically be 

entitled if he was able to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits (among other factors) 

of any of the Complaint’s substantive claims. See, e.g., Benavides v. Gartland, 2020 WL 1914916, 

at *4 (S.D. Ga. Apr. 18, 2020) (“It is well-settled that for Petitioners to be entitled to relief under 

Rule 65, they must tether their request for relief to a cause of action set forth in their pleading.” 

(gathering cases)); Adelman v. Rheem Mfg. Co., 2015 WL 4874412, at *8 (D. Ariz. Aug. 14, 2015) 

(“But it is well-settled that a claim for ‘injunctive relief,’ standing alone, is not a cause of action. 

Although injunctive relief may be available if Plaintiffs are entitled to such a remedy on an 

independent cause of action, plaintiffs’ stand-alone cause of action for injunctive relief does not 

state an independent claim, and will be dismissed.” (gathering cases)). 

V. THE TRUSTEE’S CLAIMS ARE SUBJECT TO MANDATORY ARBITRATION 

The PAA, governed by New York law, contains a broad, mandatory arbitration clause 

providing that “all disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be finally 

settled” by arbitration seated in New York under the auspices of the International Chamber of 

Commerce. PAA § 8.7. See, e.g., Rodriguez -Rivera v. Allscripts Healthcare Solutions, Inc., 2025 

WL 71692, at *10 (D.P.R. Jan. 10, 2025) (noting that the language used here is a “broad arbitration 

clause” under First Circuit precedent and American Arbitration Association guidance). 

This arbitration clause easily captures all of the Trustee’s claims, each of which “arise[s] 

out of” or is otherwise “connected to” the PAA. The only reason Qenta ever came into possession 
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of any of EPIB’s assets—the only reason there are “opt-in” customers to begin with—is because 

Qenta is a party to the PAA. Everything that the Trustee claims Qenta has done was “in connection 

with” the PAA, pursuant to which Qenta agreed to assume assets and liabilities associated with 

opt-in customers. That RICO and other statutory claims are asserted does not change the analysis. 

RICO is not a “get out of arbitration free” card. E.g., Shearson/Am. Exp., Inc. v. McMahon, 482 

U.S. 220, 239-42 (1987) (civil RICO claims were arbitrable); Álvarez-Maurás v. Banco Popular 

of Puerto Rico, 919 F.3d 617, 624 (1st Cir. 2019) (dismissing RICO claims without prejudice to 

pursuing them in arbitration). 

Because the Trustee is standing in EPIB’s shoes and EPIB is party to an agreement with a 

broad arbitration clause, the Trustee is bound by that agreement to arbitrate. See, e.g., Javitch v. 

First Union Sec., Inc., 315 F.3d 619, 627 (6th Cir. 2003) (“we find that Javitch, who is bringing 

claims on behalf of VES and CFL, is bound to the arbitration agreements to the same extent that 

the receivership entities would have been absent the appointment of the receiver”); Wiand v. 

Schneiderman, 778 F.3d 917, 924 (11th Cir. 2015); U.S. Small Bus. Admin. v. Coqui Cap. Mgmt., 

LLC, 2008 WL 4735234, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 27, 2008) (“The question thus turns to whether 

Plaintiff, as receiver, is bound to arbitrate its . . . claims. The Court concludes that it is.”).19 

However, the Trustee has not commenced an arbitration. On the contrary, he has sought to 

avoid arbitration, declining to join in the ICC arbitration commenced (and subsequently 

abandoned) by Schiff. This is yet another basis for dismissal. 

 
19 It is no answer to say that the Trustee did not sign the PAA. The Trustee’s own assertions show 
that the PAA was entered into on the Trustee’s watch and with the Trustee’s and OCIF’s knowledge 
and approval. Trustee Decl. ¶¶ 35-47. The Trustee plainly delegated authority to Schiff to enter 
into the PAA for EPIB; and even if he had not done so (though he did), he plainly ratified the PAA 
by working with Qenta to effectuate the PAA. 
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VI. DE JONG IS NOT SUBJECT TO PERSONAL JURISDICTION IN THIS COURT 

Although the Complaint should be dismissed as against de Jong for failure to state a claim 

for all the reasons discussed above, we note separately that there is no basis for the exercise of 

personal jurisdiction over de Jong individually. The Trustee does not allege—and cannot allege—

that de Jong “purposefully availed [him]self of the privilege of conduct[ing] business”20 in Puerto 

Rico and “has sufficient minimum contacts with the forum such that he should anticipate being 

haled into court []here”21 under Puerto Rico’s long-arm statute, 32 P.R. Laws Ann. tit. 32, Ap. V, 

R. 3.1.22  

For starters, de Jong is not a party to the PAA – the contract that governs all of Qenta’s 

obligations respecting EPIB and its customers. He signed that agreement on Qenta’s behalf. The 

Complaint does not allege that de Jong did anything other than in his capacity as an executive of 

Qenta. Indeed, the Complaint and Declaration barely mention de Jong at all, and the Trustee’s 

allegations are simply not susceptible to an interpretation that any actions de Jong may have taken 

relating to EPIB were in a personal capacity. “Acts performed by a defendant in a corporate 

capacity do not as a rule provide a basis for personal jurisdiction over a defendant in his individual 

capacity.” Perotta ex rel. Tory Pines Enter. Realty Tr. v. Summit Home Loans, Inc., 2005 WL 

 
20 Ortiz-Ildefonso v. SNC Tech. Servs., LLC, 2018 WL 8898617, at *4 (D.P.R. Mar. 14, 2018). 
21 Goya Foods Inc. v. Oy, 959 F. Supp. 2d 206, 212 (D.P.R. 2013). 
22 Carreras v. PMG Collins, LLC, 660 F.3d 549, 552 (1st Cir. 2011) (“A federal court may assert 
specific jurisdiction over a defendant only if doing so comports with both the forum's long-arm 
statute and the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution. Here, the two modes of 
analysis merge into one because the reach of Puerto Rico’s long-arm statute is coextensive with 
the reach of the Due Process Clause.”). 
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352859, at *1 (D. Mass. Feb. 11, 2005) (quoting McCarthy v. Azure, 22 F.3d 351, 360 (1st Cir. 

1994)).23 

Finally, even if the Trustee had shown “purposeful availment” (he has not), he could not 

show, as he must do under the framework for analyzing personal jurisdiction, that the exercise of 

personal jurisdiction over de Jong would be reasonable. See United Elec, Radio & Mach. Workers 

v. 163 Pleasant St. Corp., 960 F.2d 1080, 1088 (1st Cir. 1992). The reasonableness inquiry is 

geared at assessing overall fairness. Id. Here, the operative document contained a mandatory 

arbitration clause, chose New York as the situs of an arbitration law, and chose New York law for 

substantive and procedural matters. Under these circumstances, it is not fair to subject de Jong to 

the personal burden of defending a court action in Puerto Rico. 

Inasmuch as the Complaint fails to allege any basis for the exercise of personal jurisdiction 

over de Jong, it should be dismissed as against him under Rule 12(b)(2) in addition to all the other 

bases advanced herein. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Qenta and de Jong’s motion should be granted and the 

Complaint should be dismissed in its entirety as against them. 

  

 
23 Accord Mojtabai v. Mojtabai, 4 F.4th 77, 90 (1st Cir. 2021) (“Fatemeh has failed to identify any 
authority to support her contention that the existence of personal jurisdiction over Zary and 
Shaparak in their representative capacities as to her Count Two claims could authorize an assertion 
of pendent personal jurisdiction as to her Count One claims…even if we assume…that the claims 
in both counts arise from a common nucleus of operative fact.”); Swartz v. Bahr, 2017 WL 
2695290, at *3 (D. Mass. June 22, 2017) (“Swartz’s failure to allege as to any individual 
defendant…the type of connection or conduct that would support a finding of personal jurisdiction 
over any defendant in the District of Massachusetts subjects his individual-capacity claims to 
dismissal under Rule 12(b)(2)”).  
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WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully request that this Honorable Court dismiss Plaintiff’s 

Complaint in its entirety, together with such other and further relief as the Court deems just and 

proper. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED.  

In San Juan, Puerto Rico, this 15th day of October 2025. 

PIRILLO LAW, LLC. 
PO Box 194981 
San Juan, PR 00919-4981 
Tel.: (787) 957-3077 
 
/s/ Jose E. Nassar-Veglio 
Jose E. Nassar-Veglio 
USDC-PR 220308 
jnassar@pirillolaw.com 

KATSKY KORINS LLP 
Daniel R. Walfish (pro hac vice) 
Elan R. Dobbs (pro hac vice) 
605 Third Avenue 
New York, New York 10158 
Tel.: 212-953-6000 
dwalfish@katskykorins.com 
edobbs@katskykorins.com 
 
Attorneys for Qenta, Inc., and Brent De Jong 

 

  

Case 3:25-cv-01501-PAD-GLS     Document 36     Filed 10/15/25     Page 31 of 32



 

27 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I electronically filed this document with the Clerk of Court 

using CM/ECF/PACER, which will send notice of such filing to all attorneys of record in this 

case. 

 

/s/Jose E. Nassar-Veglio  
Jose E. Nassar-Veglio 
USDC-PR No. 220308 
Email: jnassar@pirillolaw.com  
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DECLARATION OF DANIEL WALFISH 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I, Daniel Walfish, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I am a partner in the law firm Katsky Korins LLP, attorneys for Defendants Qenta 

Inc. (“Qenta”) and Brent de Jong (“de Jong”). I was admitted pro hac vice in this action by Order 

dated October 9, 2025. ECF #29. I make this declaration in support of Qenta and de Jong’s motion 

to dismiss the Complaint herein as against them. The limited purpose of this declaration is to place 

before the Court certain documents and matters of public record of which it may take judicial 

notice in connection with this motion to dismiss. 
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2. On July 30, 2025, defendant Peter Schiff commenced an arbitration against Qenta 

and certain of its affiliates with the International Chamber of Commerce. A copy of the papers 

initiating that arbitration are attached as Exhibit 1. 

3. At or about the same time, Schiff commenced a proceeding in state court in New 

York against Qenta and its affiliates captioned Schiff v. Qenta, Inc. et al., Index No. 67774/2025 

(N.Y. Sup. Ct. Westchester Cnty.) (the “Schiff Action”) to obtain relief in aid of arbitration. Our 

firm represented the respondents in that proceeding. A copy of the state court’s docket in the Schiff 

Action is attached as Exhibit 2. 

4. On or about August 5, 2025, Qenta and the other respondents removed the Schiff 

Action from state court to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. 

5. After an adverse ruling by the District Court (discussed in the accompanying 

memorandum of law), Schiff discontinued the arbitration on August 18, 2025. A copy of that 

discontinuance is attached as Exhibit 3. 

6. Schiff discontinued the Schiff Action on August 19, 2025. A copy of that 

discontinuance is attached as Exhibit 4.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Dated: October 15, 2025       

                    /s/ Daniel Walfish   
  Daniel Walfish 
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From: Peter Chema
To: legalnotices@qenta.com; Walfish, Daniel
Subject: Re: Service of Signed Order to Show Cause with Temporary Restraining Order – Schiff v. Qenta Inc. et al. (Index

No. 67774/2025)
Date: Monday, August 18, 2025 7:46:15 PM

Dear Mr. Walfish and Qenta Legal Notices Team,
I write on behalf of claimant Peter Schiff in connection with ICC Case No.
29707/ICA9. Please be advised that claimant will not be proceeding with the
present arbitration.

This decision is made without prejudice to claimant’s rights, and claimant
reserves the ability to initiate a subsequent arbitration against your Qenta
and other respondents in the future, should he so elect.

Best regards,

Peter M. Chema
Counsel for Claimant

--
Peter M. Chema, Esq.
Attorney at Law
(914) 393–8492
pchema.law@gmail.com

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:  This email message, including any attachment(s), contains information that may be confidential, protected
by the attorney-client or other legal privileges, and/or proprietary non-public information.  If you are not an intended recipient of this
message or an authorized assistant to an intended recipient, please notify the sender promptly by replying to this message and then
delete it permanently from your system.  Use, dissemination, distribution or reproduction of this message and/or its attachment(s) (if any)
by unintended recipients is not authorized and may be unlawful.

IRS CIRCULAR 230 DISCLOSURE: Pursuant to Treasury Regulations, any tax advice contained in any e-mail communication is not
intended or written to be used, and cannot be used or relied upon by you or any other person, for the purpose of (i) avoiding penalties
under the Internal Revenue Code, or (ii) promoting, marketing or recommending to another party any tax advice addressed therein.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

       
  

    

   
PETER SCHIFF, 
                                                      Petitioner, 
                                     v. 
 
QENTA INC., RESPONSIBLE GOLD TRADING 
DMCC, and G-COMMERCE DMCC 
                                                        Respondents.   
 

 

No. 1:25-cv-06426-PKC  
 
NOTICE OF VOLUNTARY 
DISMISSAL 
 

 
Pursuant to Rule 41(a)(1)(A)(i) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Petitioner Peter 

Schiff, by his counsel, Holland & Knight LLP, hereby gives notice that the above-captioned action 

is voluntarily dismissed, without prejudice, against all Respondents.  

Date: New York, New York 
 August 19, 2025 

Respectfully submitted, 

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP 

By:/s Elliot A. Magruder 

Elliot A. Magruder 
787 Seventh Avenue 
New York, New York 10019 
Email: elliot.magruder@hklaw.com 
Telephone: (212) 513-3238 

 
Attorneys for Petitioner Peter Schiff 
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